IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID M. POMERANCE and RICHARD C. POMERANCE,

Petitioners,

vs.

CASE NUMBER: SC00-912 Lower Tribunal No. 5D98-2504

HOMOSASSA SPECIAL WATER DISTRICT, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Respondent.

After an Opinion by the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District (Case No. 98-02504)

On Appeal from the Circuit Court, Fifth Judicial Circuit In and For Citrus County, Florida, Case No. 94-2070-CA

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF

KAREN O. GAFFNEY, ESQUIRE KAREN O. GAFFNEY, P. A.
221 West Main Street
Suite D
Inverness, Florida 34450
(352) 726-9222 Attorney for PETITIONERS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Plaintiffs/Appellants, DAVID M. POMERANCE and RICHARD C. POMERANCE , will hereinafter be referred to as "PETITIONERS" or "POMERANCE". The Defendant/Appellee, HOMOSASSA SPECIAL WATER DISTRICT, will hereinafter be referred to as "RESPONDENT", "THE DISTRICT", and/or "WATER DISTRICT". Citations to the record herein will be referred to as "R - ____". Citations to the transcript of the trial before the lower Court will be referred to as "Transcript at page ____" or (T-___)". Citations to the opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal dated March 24, 2000 will be referred to as "Opinion at Page _____ or $(0 - ___)$."

PETITIONERS' STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioners, DAVID M. POMERANCE and RICHARD C. POMERANCE, are the owners of approximately nine acres of real property located in Citrus County, Florida and abutting U.S. 19 in the Homosassa area. (See, R-540 and T-14). Mr. Pomerance and his mother, Mildred F. Pomerance, acquired the property in 1984 at a purchase price of \$151,000.00. (T-14).

Thereafter, in 1993 following the death of Mrs. Pomerance, her interest in the property was conveyed by the Personal Representative of the Estate to the Petitioners here. (T-16) During the probate process, the property was appraised for probate purposes by James W. Morton of J. W. Morton Century 21 Real Estate, Inc. in Citrus County, Florida. (T-16) Mr. James Morton testified that if developable, the property had an appraised value of \$58,893.00 and that if not developable, the property had no value at all. (T-16)

The Petitioners real property is located within the Homosassa Special Water District, a special taxing district authorized and established by State Legislative enactment in 1959 to allow citizens within the District to tax themselves to construct and maintain a public water system. (R-541 and T-17). In 1988, the residents of the District voted to extend the service to a nearby subdivision known as "Halls River Estates." (R-541). In order to effectuate the new service, the District had to run a waterline travelling along U.S. 19 to the

new subdivision. (R-447). In so doing, the line ran across the front of Petitioners' property. Petitioners' property is almost entirely vacant wetlands and Petitioners' had no desire or need for water service. (R-555).

In order to fund the cost of construction of the service, the Respondent imposed a special assessment on all landowners abutting the extension on a front foot basis. (R-447, T-16 and T-19). The Pomerances were assessed approximately \$20,000.00(T-19). In reaching this assessment, the Respondent allowed a reduction only for the irregular shape of the Pomerance property (triangular). The assessment did not consider either the fact that the property contained extensive wetlands or the fact that the only upland portion of the site suitable for development was located in the extreme rear of the property and separated from the waterline and US 19 by wetlands. (R-447).

At trial, both the Petitioners and the Respondent presented expert testimony, all of whom testified as to the extensive wetlands located on the property. In fact, both Petitioners' and Respondent's expert witnesses testified that the small portion of the upland area that does exist and which is the only part of Petitioners' land which could be developed and thus potentially benefit from the waterline is located at the rear of the property. (See, T-80, 120-121, 173-174, 495, 486 and 428). Despite such, the Respondent made no adjustment to its assessment as a result of the severely diminished capacity of the property to support development but rather claims that such assessment represents the proportionate benefit derived by the Pomerance Property from the Respondent's waterline. (T-19).

The Pomerances sought relief from the Special Assessment levied against the Pomerance's property by the District pursuant to Florida law and the Charter provisions under which the District is organized and authorized. (T-17) (A copy of the District's Charter is attached hereto as Appendix 1 to this brief.) The Respondent's Charter, together with relevant Amendments, copies of which were submitted into evidence, specifically require that any Special Assessments be levied in proportion to the special benefit to each parcel of property the improvement bears. (R-541 and T-17). (As stated above, a copy of Respondent's Charter and relevant amendment is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Appendix 1. A copy of the Resolution authorizing the assessments is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Appendix 2.) The Pomerances' real property consists of a triangular piece of parcel nearly entirely composed of wetlands protected pursuant to Florida and Federal law. (T-35) A copy of the United States Army Corp of Engineers' preliminary wetlands jurisdictional line was submitted into evidence. (R-555). (See also, trial transcript at pages 82-83).

Pursuant to such Environmental Survey of the property described above,

it is apparent that the property consists of approximately 8.95 acres of which only a maximum of .75 acres is uplands. (See, T-68, 83), Subsequent to a recent site review report prepared by the United States Army Corp of Engineers, it is now apparent that the site contains a mere .50 acres of uplands. (See, R-555 and T-133). The upland acreage is separate from the nearest public roadway and for development and use purposes would require access over and across a wetlands area. (See, transcript at page 83). The wetlands jurisdictional line reflects that absent the filling of wetland areas no access to the nearest public roads could be obtained for the benefit of the .50 acres of upland property. (See, transcript at page 83, R-555).

Expert witnesses on behalf of Plaintiff, Clifford Manuel, P. E., Dale Cronwell, P. E., and Donald Lacey, AICP, testified that overriding environmental considerations consisting of State and Federal law prohibit the development of the property by virtue of State and Federal environmental laws requiring the replacement or mitigation of wetlands at a two to one ratio per acre of land disturbed. (See, transcript at pages 80,120-121,173-174). Because the Pomerances' real property has insufficient uplands available to it to mitigate the impact that the filling of wetlands in order to provide access to the small portion of uplands would require, the property is undevelopable and cannot be built upon. (See, transcript of Dale E. Cronwell, P. E., Clifford Manuel, P. E. and Dale Lacey, AICP, at pages 69,76-77,115,171-174). Such has been confirmed by the Regulatory Agency with jurisdiction herein, the United States Army Corp of Engineers. (See, R-555).

Accordingly, the improvements for which the Respondent seeks to assess the Pomerance property provide <u>no</u> special benefit to the Pomerances' property whatsoever insomuch as the Pomerances' property cannot be utilized for the construction of any structure. (T-18,19,51-52,85,126,141,174-175) Additionally, the Respondent's Special Assessment of the Pomerances' property was in the amount of \$21,334.71. (See, transcript at page 18). This was later reduced to \$19,044.39. (See, R-544 and transcript at page 19). Because the Pomerances cannot develop the real property, the waterline improvements constructed by the Respondent along Highway 19 into Halls River Estates and for which this assessment is imposed, would not specially benefit the Pomerances' real property at all. (T-76-77,85-86,119-120,126,127,172-175).

Even if Respondent's assessment provided a benefit to the Pomerances' property, the uncontroverted trial testimony of James Morton establishes that the maximum benefit to Pomerances' property is the cost of a potable well or \$2,000.00 - \$5,000.00. (See, testimony of James Morton at "T-214" and R-545). Mr. Morton testified that if the property could not be developed, the property would have no value whatsoever and the waterline improvements

would be of no benefit to the site (T-213). On the other hand, Mr. Morton testified that even if it could be developed, the property would be worth only \$58,000.00 (T-213) and the Respondent's waterline improvement would be of benefit only to the extent of the value of a well (T-214). Mr. Barry Runyon, licensed real estate appraiser confirmed this testimony (T-227-239).

In addition to the trial testimony of Petitioner's expert witnesses and appraisers, the Citrus County Director of Development Services, Gary Maidhof testified before the Court. (T-240) Mr. Maidhof testified as to his current responsibilities and extensive background in the permitting and development of property in Citrus County, Florida. (T-242). Mr. Maidhof further testified as an expert witness to the following facts:

- 1. That the site is predominantly wetlands. (T-246)
- 2. That there is less than one (1) acre of usable uplands. (T-246)

3. That the development of the site is at best extremely limited. (T-247)

4. That the site has no upland property abutting U.S. 19. (T-248)

5. That the site has no usable property fronting the Appellee's waterline. (T-248)

6. That due to the high presence of wetlands and the limited development potential, his recommendation was to allow the State to acquire the site for conservation. (T-249-250)

7. That the wetlands located on the Pomerance site are

considered one of the more important types of wetlands. (T-251) 8. Typically mitigation of the site to allow any fill of wetlands would be required of anywhere up to two and a half $(2\frac{1}{2})$ acres to each one (1) area impacted. (T-251-252)

9. That there is currently no public sewer available. (T- 253)

10. That sewer service by any off-site package plants within the area would be unlikely. (T-253)

11. That an on-site septic system would be required and that 3.5 acres of uplands would be required for such. (T-255)

12. That this site does not contain 3.5 acres of uplands. (T-255)

13. That the property cannot be used for residential purposes. (T-256)

14. That commercial development would be extremely difficult. (T-256)

15. That the existence of public water to the site does not provide "much benefit" to the site. (T-257)

16. That sufficient upland acreage does not remain after mitigation to develop the site without owning off-site property. (T 240-258) and (<u>See</u>, R-560).

It is clear from the expert testimony of Mr. Maidhof and other witnesses that the Pomerance property cannot be developed without the acquisition of off-site property, that the Respondent's waterline improvement provides no benefit to Pomerances' property and that even if the property could be developed, it is not benefited by Respondent's improvement in proportion to the amount assessed. Because the property will not receive a proportionate benefit from the water system improvements made by the Respondent, the assessment is improper under Florida law and the Respondent's Charter provisions.

The Pomerances objected to the assessment on these grounds and ultimately sued the Respondent in the Circuit Court in and for the Fifth Judicial Circuit arguing that they should not be obligated to pay the assessment alleging that because of the onsite jurisdictional wetlands, the assessment was not properly imposed in proportion to the benefit the waterline presented to the Pomerance property. The Trial Court upheld the Respondent's assessment and the Pomerances appealed. The Fifth District Court of Appeal then affirmed the Lower Court's decision and issued its opinion, Judge Harris dissenting. A conformed copy of the opinion is attached hereto as Appendix 3.

Thereafter, the Pomerances filed their Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court on April 24, 2000. This Court granted certiorari and issued its Order Accepting Jurisdiction and Setting Oral Argument on September 19, 2000.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The special assessment imposed upon the Petitioners' property is invalid as a result of the failure of the Respondent to comply with the law of this state and the Respondents own Charter provisions, as amended. More particularly, the Respondents assessment fails to comply with the basic principles established by this Court that the property derive a special benefit and that the assessment be fairly and reasonably apportioned according to the benefits received. <u>Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of Christ</u>, Inc., 667 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1995).

Because Petitioner's property is subject to overriding environmental regulatory constraints, it receives no benefit from the waterline improvement for which it was assessed. Accordingly, Respondents property receives no special benefit nor was it fairly and reasonably assessed in proportion to the benefits received. The assessment is therefore invalid. The Opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal and the judgment of the Circuit Court upholding Respondent's assessment should be reversed.

ARGUMENT ISSUE

WHETHER A SPECIAL ASSESSMENT LEVIED BY A SPECIAL WATER DISTRICT IS INVALID WHERE THE WATER DISTRICT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH FLORIDA LAW AND THE WATER DISTRICT'S LEGISLATIVE CHARTER, AS AMENDED, BY FAILING TO FAIRLY AND REASONABLY ASSESS PROPERTY WHICH IS THE SUBJECT OF EXTENSIVE GOVERNMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS IN PROPORTION TO THE BENEFIT RECEIVED BY SUCH PROPERTY FROM THE WATER DISTRICT'S WATERLINE IMPROVEMENT.

As Judge Harris stated in his dissent in the Fifth District Court of Appeals Opinion in this case, "This case adds insult to injury." (Opinion at Page 6). The Homosassa Water District is a Special District created by Special Act of the Florida Legislature. <u>See</u>, Chapter 59-Laws of Florida. A copy of such Special Act is attached to this Brief as Appendix 1). The Water District has no inherent authority to levy special assessments. <u>See</u>, <u>City of Miami v. Brinker</u>, 342 So.2d 115, 116 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977). Such levies are invalid unless made "pursuant to the method prescribed by the legislature." <u>Id.</u>

The power of state and local governments to levy taxes is governed by the Constitution of the State of Florida. Article VII, Section 1(a), Florida Constitution provides as follows:

> No tax shall be levied except in pursuance of law. No state ad valorem taxes shall be levied upon real estate or tangible personal property. All other forms

of taxation shall be preempted to the state except as provided by general law. <u>Id</u>.

Article VII, Section 9(a) of the Florida Constitution further provides that:

(a) Counties, school districts, and municipalities shall, and special districts may, be authorized by law to levy ad valorem taxes and may be authorized by general law to levy other taxes, for their respective purposes, except ad valorem taxes on intangible personal property and taxes prohibited by this constitution.

Therefore, the Constitution mandates that Special Districts created by the legislature have no authority to levy taxes or other assessments except as provided by legislative law. See, <u>Collier County, Florida v. State of Florida</u>, 773 So. 2d 1012 (Fla. 1999). All other forms of taxation are preempted to the State unless authorized by general law. <u>Id. at 1013.</u>

Florida has adopted a two-prong test for determining the validity of special assessments

In reviewing the validity of special assessments, the Florida Supreme Court has adopted a two-prong test to determine whether an assessment is lawful. See <u>Lake County Florida v. Water Oak Management Corporation</u>, 695 So. 2d 667, 668 (Fla. 1997). See also, <u>Sarasota County v. Sarasota Church of</u> <u>Christ</u>, 667 So.2d 180, 183 (Fla. 1995); <u>City of Boca Raton v. State</u>, 595 So.2d 25, 29 (Fla. 1992). First, it must be determined "whether the services at issue provide a special benefit to the assessed property" and second, it must be determined "whether the assessment for the services is properly apportioned". <u>Lake County</u>, 695 So. 2d 667 (Fla. 1997). This Brief will address first whether the services provided by the Respondent's water-line provide a "special benefit" to the Pomerance property and second whether the Respondent's assessment is fairly and properly apportioned.

There must be a special and peculiar benefit

In <u>Harris v. Wilson</u>, 693 So. 2d 945 (Fla. 1997), a county's partial year special assessment applicable to residential properties in unincorporated areas for the purpose of financing solid waste disposal was found not to be arbitrary. <u>Id</u>. In discussing the county's determination of benefits, the court noted that the county had stated in both the ordinances and the resolution adopting the assessment that the properties to be assessed would be specially benefited by such an assessment. <u>See Id</u>. Specifically, the county's Resolution directly stated that:

"Benefits provided to affected lands include by way of example and not limitation, the availability of facilities to properly and safely dispose of solid waste generated on improved residential lands, closure and the long term monitoring of the facilities, a potential increase and value to improve residential lands, better service to owners and tenants, and the enhancement of environmentally responsible use and enjoyment of residential land." <u>Harris</u>, 693 So. 2d 945 (Fla. 1997).

In contrast to Harris, however, the resolution as adopted by the

Homosassa Special Water District failed to provide any specific findings of special benefit to the property to be assessed. (See Resolution, dated January 13, 1992 at R-542 and Appendix 2 at Page 1). Rather, the Resolution merely stated in general terms that the water system improvements were being provided based on a petition by a majority of the residents of a portion of the area to be assessed and that the District "desired" to provide the water service provided that the special assessment was paid by the lands to be benefited. See, Id. No mention was made of what that benefit might be. See, Id.

No special benefits existed here or were found by the Respondent

Although it can generally be said that the benefits from water service may potentially improve residential lands, no such benefit was expressed by the Water District. <u>See, Id.</u> Additionally, no determination of <u>any</u> benefit to commercial properties or those environmentally impacted such as the Pomerances' property was made by the District. <u>See, Id.</u> The Respondent, at trial, stipulated that the official minutes of the meetings of the Commissioners of the District accurately reflect all evidence considered by the District in confirming the Special Assessment roll and the specific assessment which is the subject of this action. (See, Joint Stipulation of the parties at T-277).

In fact, a review of the Official Minutes of the District reflects that no evidence as to benefit was considered by the District. In fact, the District considered only the improvement plans and the assessment roll describing property and amounts for each assessment. (See, R-548). No evidence in support of special benefit to <u>any</u> property including the Pomerances' property was considered. In fact, the only evidence on the issue and benefit considered was provided by the Pomerances and established a lack of benefit to the Pomerance property. (See, R-554).

While a specific finding of benefit to every parcel is not required for each parcel, some finding of benefit must be made by the taxing authority

The Fifth District Court within its opinion herein concluded that a factual finding that the specific parcel in question receives a special benefit is not required based upon, <u>City of Treasure Island v. Strong</u>, 215 So 2d 473 (Fla. 1968). (See, Opinion at Appendix 3, Page 2.) In doing so, the court completely failed to consider the fact that herein, the District made no finding or determination of any benefit to any of the assessed properties. In <u>City of</u> Treasure Island v. Strong, supra, this Court stated as follows:

...when, as in the instant case, there is an inherent and obvious legislative determination in the <u>enabling</u> <u>provision</u> that the benefits flowing from a particular improvement are of the kind as would usually accrue to particular properties, it is not absolutely incumbent on the taxing authority to make a determination that each property ownership will be specially benefited by the improvement. <u>Id.</u> at 482. (emphasis added). Respondent's Resolution dated January 13, 1992, which Resolution was admitted into evidence and is attached hereto as Appendix 2 reflects on its face the following:

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