SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-912

DAVID M. POMERANCE and RICHARD C. POMERANCE,

Petitioners,

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT - NO. 5D98-2504

v.

HOMOSASSA SPECIAL WATER DISTRICT, a political subdivision of the State of Florida, FIFTH CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 94-2070CA

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Jack A. Moring, EsquireSidney F. Ansbacher, EsquireFlorida Bar No. 499160Florida Bar No. 0611300Myers and Moring, P.A.Upchurch, Bailey & Upchurch, P.A.7655 W. Gulf to Lake Highway PostOffice Drawer 3007Suite 12St. Augustine, Florida 32085-3007Crystal River, Florida 34429Telephone No. (904) 829-9066Telephone No. (352) 795-1797Attorney for Respondent

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

[I]t does not appear an official determination of special benefits must be made and set forth in express terms in all cases in the resolution authorizing a special assessment. <u>Certain types of</u> <u>improvements authorized by enabling legislation by their nature</u> <u>give rise to presumptions of special benefits to lands assessed for</u> <u>the cost of such improvements</u>.

Id. at 477, 488 (emphasis added). The court took note of <u>Atlantic Coast Line</u>, where it recognized and discussed the presumption of special benefit to

adjacent properties in connection with street improvement projects. Applying

that rationale to the groin project, the court concluded:

[W]e think it is not fatal to the validity of the special assessments because the City failed to make a formal determination of the benefits accruing to the property ownerships assessed. Under Article VI, Section 52 of its Charter, the City was empowered by the Legislature to issue revenue certificates for the construction of an erosion control groin system and to assess the cost of such an improvement project against the "<u>abutting property</u> and any other property within the city that is of sufficient proximity to such improvements to receive benefits of protection therefrom." [emphasis in original] <u>By the use of this language in the Charter,</u> we believe the Legislature itself necessarily determined that the construction of an erosion control groin system by the City presumably would result in benefits inuring specially to the properties protected thereby.

Id. at 478 (emphasis added)

Likewise, it is clear from the District charter that the state legislature itself "necessarily determined" that construction of the water line would specially benefit the lands fronting the line. The charter <u>specifically</u> authorizes the District to determine and prorate benefits according to front footage: "Such special assessments shall be levied upon the property specially benefitted by such improvements in proportion to the benefits to be derived therefrom. Such benefits shall be determined and prorated according to the front footage of the properties specially benefited by such improvements or by any other method as the Board may prescribe."

(T. 541) (emphasis added) The front foot approach presumes, of course, that the properties fronting the water line will be specially benefitted in proportion to their front footage. (T. 521)

The language of the charter is virtually identical to former Florida Statute 170.02, by which the legislature authorized municipalities to levy special assessments for street and sewer improvements. Ch. 9298, §2, Laws of Florida (1923). The authorization was and is consistent with Florida law deeming the front foot method the preferred method of <u>determining</u> and <u>apportioning</u> special benefits. See authorities cited above, page 16-18.

The District proceeded in accordance with its charter, strengthening the presumption that it made the requisite determination. The operative provisions of the 1992 resolution directed the District engineer and counsel to proceed "pursuant to Chapter 63-1222, Laws of Florida, as amended [the charter] to establish and implement the special assessment district to encompass all lands to be benefitted by this extension of water service according to law." (T. 542) The engineers prepared and presented to the Board a report in support of their proposed assessment. The engineers expressly determined that there would be a special benefit to the assessed properties. (T. 490, et seq., 548, 552)

In an attempt to distinguish <u>Treasure Island</u>, the Pomerances deny the obvious and again insist that the District made <u>no</u> determination that the new water line would benefit adjoining properties, and instead predicated the assessment on the desire of some of the residents in the service area. (B. 15) This argument is simply contrary to the record. They also attempt to distinguish the case because the plaintiffs there did not timely object to the assessment. This ignores the find that the court was applying the <u>Atlantic Coast Line</u> rationale, which cannot be so distinguished.

The Pomerances' main arguments depend on the premise that the District did not make any determination of special benefit. As demonstrated above,

that premise is simply wrong. The record establishes that the District made an express determination of special benefit and the case law establishes that in any event, such a determination is presumed.

The Pomerances Failed to Demonstrate by Clear and Positive Proof that the District's Determination of Special Benefit was Arbitrary

The issue here is not whether the assessment was "simply unfair in a practical sense" to the Pomerances' particular property. <u>Atlantic Coast Line</u> <u>R. Co. v. City of Winter Haven</u>, 112 Fla. 807, 151 So. 321, 325 (1933). Under the applicable two-prong test, the District's express and implied determination that the assessed properties would receive a special benefit must be upheld "<u>unless the determination is arbitrary</u>." <u>Sarasota County</u>, 667 at 184. (emphasis added) The presumption that it was <u>not</u> "can be overcome <u>only</u> by strong, direct, clear and positive proof." <u>Meyer v. City of Oakland Park</u>, 219 So.2d 417, 420 (Fla. 1969) (emphasis added).

The Pomerances' burden to show that the District acted arbitrarily in this case is a formidable one. An <u>arbitrary</u> action is one that is "<u>not</u> supported by

facts or logic, or despotic." <u>Agrico Chemical Co. v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 760, 763 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) (emphasis added).

There is no evidence whatsoever in the record whatsoever to show that the District's action was <u>unsupported</u> by facts or logic. The District's determination that the project would specially benefit the properties along the line was not only <u>supported</u>, but is <u>presumed</u>, by Florida law. The District's imposition of the assessment on the basis of front footage was not only <u>supported</u> but was <u>expressly authorized</u> by its charter. It was also <u>supported</u> by Florida law recognizing that the front foot is the traditional methodology and holding that when it has been utilized, such "exercise of legislative discretion will <u>not</u> be disturbed by the courts." <u>Atlantic Coast Line</u>, 91 So. at 127. <u>See</u> <u>also</u> discussion and other citations at page 17.

In developing the assessment, the District did not act <u>despotically</u>. To the contrary, it directed its counsel and engineer to develop the assessment <u>pursuant to its charter and according to law</u>. The engineer's report advised that the assessed lands would be specially benefitted and proportionately assessed. The Board followed the engineer's recommendations and enacted the assessment as presented.

The only "proof" presented to the Board to suggest that the improvements would <u>not</u> benefit the Pomerances was counsel's argument that the property was undevelopable. She submitted reports prepared in connection with Mr. Pomerance's mother's estate, but no supporting testimony. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Lanahan Lumber v. McDevitt and Street</u>, 611 So.2d 591 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (attorney argument is not probative). The District declined to capitulate, and approved the assessment on authority of the charter. As discussed above, there was ample legal and factual support for that decision. Accordingly, by definition, it was not arbitrary.

At Trial, the Pomerances Failed to Overcome the Presumption of Validity by Strong and Positive <u>Proof that the Property Was Undevelopable</u>

The Pomerances claim that the evidence at trial "clearly established" that their property cannot be developed, and, therefore, would not benefit from the water line: Herein, the Pomerances' property is not specially benefited by the Respondent's waterline improvement in any way. The testimony at trial clearly established that the Pomerances' property cannot be developed or used for any commercial purpose. The testimony at trial further established that the Respondent's waterline improvement provides <u>no</u> benefit to the property if, in fact, the property cannot be developed. Petitioners' expert witnesses established that the Petitioners' property cannot be used or developed as a result of the predominant wetlands.

(B. 19) (citations omitted).

Once again, the Pomerances ignore the substantial evidence to the contrary that supported both the District's legislative determination of benefit and the trial court's determination of the weight and credibility of conflicting evidence on this point. As the District Court of Appeal explained below:

[I]t was the Pomerances' burden to overcome the presumptions that their property was benefitted from the improvement, and the presumption that the district correctly determined that the property received a special benefit. At trial, the parties presented conflicting expert testimony regarding the amount of the property that was wetlands, and the amount of the property that could be developed. The trial court found that the Pomerances did not prove by a preponderance of the evidence that there was no benefit to the property from the extension of water service to it. Because that finding is supported by the evidence, we cannot disturb it on appeal. (DCA opinion, 3-4).

The District's wetlands expert, Randy Armstrong, contradicted the Pomerances' experts on the development potential of the property. He testified that with only on-site mitigation, a two-acre development was permittable. (T. 471) With off-site mitigation, a larger development would be feasible. (T. 462, 463) He also contradicted their testimony as to the problems with access to US Highway 19. He testified that he relied on the Pomerances' <u>own</u> report which showed the access road would only require <u>one-tenth</u> of an acre of fill to construct on the southern boundary. (T. 453-455)

The Pomerances claim that "maximum value" of the property is \$58,000. However, their appraiser testified this valuation was based on the uncertainty of developability until permits were sought. (T. 234-235, 236-237). His appraisal indicated that developable property in that location was worth \$100,000 or more per acre. (T. 212; 545)

The Pomerances also argue (B. 21) that the maximum benefit to the property would be \$2,000 - \$5,000, the cost of a well. Under this logic, a

property with a well or a septic tank could never be assessed for the installation of central water and sewer because those improvements would add no value to the property. In any event, there was conflicting evidence on this point. Mr. McDonald testified that the value of the benefit was equal to the cost of installing the water line. (T. 521) This testimony is consistent with Florida law on front foot assessments. <u>City of Winter Haven</u>, 151 So. at 34 (the determination the property assessed on front foot basis "has received special benefits equal to the assessments, is conclusive against all collateral attacks.")

At most, the Pomerances raised questions abut the developability of the property, but they have not overcome the presumptions as to special benefits and the correctness of the District's legislative acts. Although <u>Volusia County</u> <u>v. Aberdeen at Ormond Beach, L.P.</u>, 760 So.2d 126 (Fla. 2000), involved school impact fees rather than special assessments, the case is an example of that "strong, direct, clear and positive proof" required to overcome the presumption of benefits. <u>Meyer</u>, 219 So.2d at 420. Previously, in <u>St. Johns County v. Northeast Florida Builders Association</u>, 583 So.2d 635 (Fla. 1991), the court held that assessing new homes with school impact fees satisfied the

analogous benefits prong of the dual rational nexus test because new schools would be available to serve such homes, even though school children might not ever actually live in some of them. <u>Id</u>. at 639.

In <u>Aberdeen</u>, the court held that the benefits test was not met as applied to the Aberdeen community because it was subject to 30-year, irrevocable deed restrictions banning minors from living there, thus flatly <u>negating</u> the benefits from the availability of new schools. The landowner thus conclusively demonstrated that the community would not receive any direct benefit from the fees.

In contrast, the Pomerances fell far short of overcoming the presumption that their property would benefit from the availability of water service. The property is not subject to land use regulations that prohibit development, much less irrevocably.

At most, there was conflicting evidence as to the development potential of the property. The trial judge who observed the witnesses and heard the testimony found against the Pomerances on this issue. Her determination was supported by substantial competent evidence and should not be disturbed on appeal.

The Court Should Not Entertain the Claim That the Property Was Undevelopable When <u>There Has Been No Denial of Development Rights</u>

The Pomerances argue that the property is undevelopable because it has substantial jurisdictional wetlands. Agency jurisdiction, however, simply requires permitting review. Unless and until the landowner, in good faith, applies for and attempts to obtain a development permit, determining the developability of the property is at best an exercise in educated speculation.

The Pomerances are saying in so many words that there has been a regulatory taking. If so, they have a remedy under Florida law - inverse condemnation. It is respectfully suggested that the burden on a landowner to demonstrate a regulatory taking in order to avoid liability for an assessment should be at least as great as it would be in an inverse condemnation action. A landowner who succeeds in avoiding an assessment still owns the property and can still attempt to develop or sell it. On the other hand, the landowner who prevails in an inverse condemnation wins compensation but loses the property. There is no chance for the land owner to have its cake and eat it too.

The final denial of a development permit is a condition precedent to an inverse condemnation claim based on a regulatory taking theory. In <u>Key Haven</u> <u>v. Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund</u>, 427 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1982), the court held that neither an "as applied" takings claim <u>nor</u> a challenge to administrative action should be allowed until after administrative remedies are exhausted. Once the administrative remedies are exhausted, the aggrieved party may appeal the administrative action to a court of competent jurisdiction. Alternatively, the party may waive its administrative appeal rights, accept the denial of the permit and sue for a taking.

The Pomerances' claim is simply not ripe under <u>Key Haven</u>. Even assuming that everything that the Pomerances say is true, the District has done nothing more than levy an assessment for the presumptive benefit of making central water available. No one has denied them the right to develop their property.

Essentially, the Pomerances contend that exhaustion of administrative process with the regulatory agencies would be futile. In <u>Eide v. Sarasota</u> <u>County</u>, 908 F.2d 716 (11th Cir. 1990), the landowner claimed that a land use plan designation of the property constituted a compensable taking and that it would be futile to apply for a permit. The court rejected this argument. The court noted:

Eide's determination of what is consistent with the sector plan is not controlling here; the County and the Florida Courts are arbiters of what is consistent. <u>As stated above, the sector plan</u> <u>did not rezone any land commercial or non-commercial; it merely</u> <u>dictates that all future development be consistent with it.</u>

<u>Id</u>. at 727.

As the <u>Eide</u> court recognized, mere regulation of property does not constitute a taking. Likewise, mere regulation of the property does not render exhaustion of administrative remedies futile. This is equally true in this case.

In <u>Heck v. United States</u>, 134 F.3d 1468 (Fed. Cir. 1998), the court held a takings claim was not ripe where the Corps "deactivated" a fill permit to develop 13 acres of jurisdictional wetlands. The court rejected the argument that further attempts to seek permits would be futile:

[T]he futility exception simply serves "to protect property owners from being required to submit multiple applications when the manner in which the first application was rejected makes it clear that no project will be approved. In this case, by contrast, Heck's first application was never rejected because it was never complete.

<u>Id</u>. at 1472.

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